

Minutes MEETING OF THE ICC INDUSTRY ADVISORY COMMITTEE

Monday, September 17, 2001 — 2:00 p.m. to 5:00 p.m.

Regency Ballroom E, F

Hyatt Regency Hotel

Cincinnati, Ohio

1. Call to Order:

Chairman Larry Perry called the meeting to order at 2:00 p.m. and it was determined that a quorum was present. A moment of silence was held in remembrance of the tragic events that took place on September 11.

2. Approve Agenda:

A **motion** was made and seconded to approved the agenda as amended to include the following items under New Business: 11.1 Alliance to Save Energy; 11.2 NAHB Proposed Changes to ICC Code Development Process; 11.3 Composition of IRC Committee. The motion carried.

3. Self Introductions:

The Chairman asked for self introductions of those present at the meeting. A list of those in attendance is included as Attachment A to the minutes.

4. Approval of October 8, 2000 IAC Meeting Minutes:

A **motion** was made and seconded to approve the minutes of the March 18, 2001 IAC meeting held in Portland, OR. The motion carried.

5. Report of the ICC Executive Vice President:

ICĈ Executive Vice President Richard Kuchnicki and ICC staff members Sara Yerkes and Larry Brown reported on:

- < I-Codes adoptions
- < CASA Act S. 1197
- < Building a Safer World Foundation
- < ICC Code Councils
- < Standards Development Activities
- ANSI actions on ICC proposed changes to Canvas Method and General Procedures
- < 18 Month Code Development Cycle
- < International Urban Wildlands Interface Code
- < ICC/SFPE Enforcers Guide for Performance-based Regulations
- < Ad-hoc Committee on Referenced Standards in the I-Codes
- < Federal Regulatory Activities
- < Consolidation Activities

6. Chairman's Report:

Chairman Perry reported that the American Institute of Architects and ICC will be recognizing Bob Fowler, past Chairman of ICC, for his efforts in establishing ICC by establishing a scholarship fund in his honor. Chairman Perry presented a plaque to past Chairman of the IAC, Charles Spitz, in honor of his service as IAC Chairman.

7. Report of ANSI Standards Development Method Task Group:

Task Group Chair, Spitz reported that the Task Group will attempt to develop a report on recommendations to ANSI in time for the next ANSI ExSC meeting in January, 2002.

8. Report of IAC Time Limits Task Group:

Task Group Chair, Vickie Lovell gave an overview of the Task Group report that was distributed with the agenda and is included as attachment B to the minutes.

Several IAC members suggested that the report should be reformatted in a form such as: Issue, Recommendation, Action and include a clear rationale for each recommendation.

A **motion** was made and seconded to clean up the report so that it contains clear issues, recommendations and rationale and revisit the report at the next IAC meeting. The motion carried.

9. Report of IAC ICC Use of Consensus Procedures Task Group:

Task Group Chair, Perry reported that there was no meeting of the Task Group since the last IAC meeting but a report will be made at the next meeting.

10. Technical Content Modifications During Code Adoption Process:

The IAC reviewed a letter from IBHS expressing concern about local technical changes that are made to the International Codes. IBHS representative, Nanette McElman addressed the IAC on the concerns of IBHS

Bill Tangye stated that the IAC has never adopted a policy as the ICC Board has, which recommends the adoption of unamended statewide model codes. Tangye suggested that the IAC have a debate on such a policy at a future meeting.

11. New Business

11.1 Alliance to Save Energy Letter:

A letter from the Alliance to Save Energy, expressing concern about the errata on the IECC that was approved by the ICC Board was distributed with the agenda and is included as attachment C to the minutes. Mike Pfieffer informed the IAC that all errata issues, including the one on the IECC will be on the code change agenda this week.

11.2 NAHB Proposed Changes to the Code Development Process:

A BOCA Memorandum from Paul Heilstedt to Dick Kuchnicki, which listed several proposed changes to the Rules of Procedure for the International Codes that NAHB asked to be brought forward for consideration by the ICC Board, was distributed with the agenda and is included as attachment D to the minutes. The IAC was asked if they wished to make recommendations on any of the proposed revisions before they are presented to the ICC Board.

A **motion** was made and seconded to recommend approval of the modification to Section 5.7.1 as written in the BOCA memo. The motion carried.

A **motion** was made and seconded to recommend approval of the modification to Section 6.1 as written in the BOCA memo.

A motion was made and seconded to table the previous motion until the next IAC meeting. The motion carried.

A **motion** was made and seconded to recommend approval of the modification to Section 7.3.3 as written in the BOCA memo. The motion carried.

A **motion** was made and seconded to recommend approval of the modification to Section 4.5 as written in the BOCA memo. The motion carried.

A **motion** was made and seconded to not recommend approval of the modification to Section 3.3.4(6). The motion carried.

11.3 Composition of IRC Committee:

Jake Pauls stated that he believes the IRC committees selection process is not fair and that the committees are dominated by the homebuilding industry.

12. Date and Location of Next Meeting

It was agreed that the next IAC meeting will be held in the Washington D.C. area prior to the Spring ICC Board meeting on a date to be determined.

13. Adjourn:

A motion was made, seconded and carried to adjourn the meeting at approximately 5:10 p.m.

Richard P. Kuchnick:	09/28/01
Richard Kuchnicki, IAC Secretary	Dated

Attachment A

Members attending the IAC Committee meeting September 17, 2001 in Cincinnati, OH:

Gene B. Endthoff Charles A. Spitz
Larry Neibauer Elaine Thompson

David Harris Ed Sutton
Ron Nickson David Collins
David L. Roodvoets Dave Frable
Vickie Lovell Rawn Nelson
Larry Perry Alan Thomas
Michael Gardner Dan Lea

Thomas Wolf John Gronewold Jake Pauls Jonathan Humble

Alternates in Attendance:

Jeff Shapiro Mark Leuthold

Bob Eugene

Non-Members in Attendance:

Bill Dupler Steve Shapiro George Shortreed Tom Frost Frank Nunes Ed Berkel Jeff Feid Jud Collins Ken Schoonover Dave Conover Bill Tangye Paul Coats **Dominic Sims** Julie Ruth Paul Heilstedt Ronald Walker Mike Pfeiffer Jess Beitel

Staff in Attendance:

Richard Kuchnicki Larry Brown

Date: September 10, 2001

To: Larry Perry, Chair

ICC Industry Advisory Committee (IAC)

From: Vickie Lovell, IAC Vice Chair

Task Group Chairman

Re: IAC Task Group Report on Code Development Hearings Time Limits

The members of the Task Group are as follows:

Vickie Lovell, InterCode, Inc. representing Air Movement and Control Assn.

John Stratton, SMACNA

Jake Pauls, American Public Health Association

Mike Fischer, National Sunroom Association

Dave Collins, American Institute of Architects

Gene Endthoff, National Fire Sprinkler Association

Donald Rowson, Industrial Hydro Carbons\Consumer Specialty Products Assn.

Michael Tierney, Building Hardware Manufacturers Association

Robert Eugene, Underwriters Laboratories

Contributing Guests:

Jim Smith, State of Wisconsin (current committee member) John Wiggins, UL (former committee chairman)

Staff Liason:

Dick Kuchnicki, ICC

Introduction –

In response to concerns raised by IAC members, particularly Jake Pauls and Bill Koffel, Chairman Perry re-authorized the appointment of a task group to study the imposition of time limits on testimony within the ICC Code Development Process.

The purpose of this task group is to outline for the Industry Advisory Committee (IAC) recommendations for the IAC membership to consider and ultimately recommend to the ICC Board, in order to provide additional guidance to hearing moderators and code change proponents or opponents as to the conditions that may warrant additional testimony time, and how such time extensions may be handled. The foremost principle that guided this task group through it's deliberations was not an intent to limit public testimony by arbitrarily imposed time limits; rather to improve the quality of the testimony, to make the technical reference material readily available

to the committees and the membership, and to facilitate the hearing process through an efficient, yet flexible, disposition of code change proposals.

After four lengthy teleconferences, the Task Group focused its attention two logical approaches to improving the quality of the time permitted to debate code change proposals as follows:

- 1) To shorten (or eliminate if possible) the time used to dispose of code changes deemed to be editorial, or are simple "fixes" such as an inadvertent conflict, or cross-referencing of sections,
- 2) To develop a fair and consistent process to allow additional time to hear more complicated or "thorny" issues, or where numerous speakers are present to raise their issues of concern.

This report identifies:

- I. The current ICC provisions that address the imposition of time limits,
- II. General Task Group recommendations and modifications to hearings without significantly changing the current procedures or rules for the:
 - A. Public Hearing
 - B. Final Action Hearing
- III. Possible further study issues if IAC directs the Task Group to expand its scope.

I. CURRENT PROCEDURES -

The ICC Code Development Process (as of 11/12/00) allows for the imposition of time limits at the Public Hearing as follows:

"5.4.4 Limitations on Debate: The Moderator shall have the authority to establish rules and time limitations on debate in the interest of time and fairness to all hearing participants."

The current ICC Code Development Procedures do not include similar language under the Final Action Hearing rules. The current procedure is silent on how the Final Actions are to be conducted.

Although not published, time limits imposed at the Public Hearing and the Final Action are usually established by the moderator at the beginning of the hearing.

II. GENERAL TASK GROUP RECOMMENDATIONS-

TG Voting Procedure: Unless otherwise indicated, the following items were recommended for approval by at least 75% of the 9-member task group. The items that received less than 75%, but passed with a majority, are so noted and are accompanied by comments from the TG members. Additional comments, both pro and con, have been provided at the end of this report for the consideration of the IAC membership and future task groups..

1. The moderator should have guidelines <u>in writing</u> for limiting or expanding time for testimony as part of the code change procedures, and these should be published along with the agenda. (See additional comments.)

- 2. A timekeeper, such as a staff person, shall be appointed to begin and end each debate. Any time limits imposed by the moderators should be implemented by the timekeeper using an automatic green, amber, and red light system with a timing device, with an amber light indicating that the speaker has so many seconds remaining to complete their thought. Red light ends testimony. Verbal interruptions, except to end the discussion at the red light, are not appropriate. Such interruptions are distracting to the speaker and the audience and may carry inflections, informal or personal inferences that may be inappropriate. (See additional comments)
- 3. The moderator should have limited discretion throughout the hearing to modify established time limits in order to ensure "fairness" to all hearing participants. The Task Group determined that it is the membership who has ultimate control over the agenda, which includes how items are group together, the combining of changes, and other factors which impact the usage of time. In the interest of "fairness", there may be conditions where time limits need to be expanded. Some situations where additional time for testimony might be warranted include:
 - a. Where a complex issue is spread across multiple proposals, it may be more expedient to allow longer testimony to address the grouped proposed code changes, rather than trying to have testimony presented in two-minute (for example) segments in a series of identical or related proposals.
 - b. Where the complexity of the proposal, either because of proposal length, technical complexity, or number of related proposals warrants additional hearing time.
 - c. Where the number of testifiers on one side of a proposal far outweighs the number of testifiers on the opposite side.
 - d. Where the proponents and/or opponents have requested a tabling of an issue(s) to a later time so that they may caucus during the hearings to achieve a more viable resolution or modification to an issue(s). The presentation of such modifications may require an expanded time limit to thoroughly explain the significance of the modification to the membership. (See additional comments on items a through d)
- 4. The purpose of the public hearing is to permit ANYONE who wishes to register his or her comments in support or opposition into the public record, often traveling at great expense or effort to attend. "Me, too" testimony, while time consuming and even annoying, should not be dismissed. Although not necessarily providing additional technical information, an attendee who wants to read their position of their jurisdiction or organization into the record should be permitted to do so, even though it may be repetitious. (Vote: 6-3. See additional comments)
- 5. Since the final chapters of each code are usually heard later on the agenda with time running short, they are often the most limited for discussions. The code can be divided into logical sections and those sections can be arranged differently on the agenda during both 18-month periods, so that over the course of a 3-year cycle, everyone's issues are heard fairly. (See additional comments).

6. In spite of everyone's best efforts, some issues cannot be satisfactorily resolved during the hearing process, as discussed in Item 4 of this section. Some issues are of such complexity, depth, controversy, or innovation that the few minutes permitted for discussion during the hearings are not sufficient to address all pertinent materials in order to codify an issue. In those cases, this task group strongly recommended that the ICC implement a less formal, less structured meeting arrangement (similar to the Board for the Coordination/Development of Model Codes, a/k/a BCMC process) for the discussion of such issues. BCMC meetings were well publicized and regularly scheduled, open to anyone who wished to attend, and with a published agenda of the various issues to be discussed. Such "brainstorming" by many interested individuals, not just those who are intimately involved with their specific issue, provided an invaluable opportunity to review technical documents, to examine the related code issues, to develop ideas, and ultimately, a code change proposal that often represented a satisfactory, compromise. It is also recommended that if such a BCMC-style committee were formed, that the Committee members also participate in such meetings. The task group expressed concern that the current method of using ad hoc committees for this function are too narrow in scope, too limited in attendance, and not well-enough publicized for broader-based participation. (Vote 6-3. See additional comments)

II-A. TASK GROUP RECOMMENDATIONS FOR THE PUBLIC HEARING-

- 1. The new 18-month/3-year cycle provides proponents with enough time to write a thorough, well-prepared code change proposal with appropriate technical references. The monograph is the opportunity for the proponent to "make their statement". The proponent should, therefore, not be permitted to restate their entire supporting statement, using up valuable hearing time. It is already printed in the monograph. A proponent may waive his/her initial time (i.e. 2 mins.) to allow any opponents to speak first, but may be permitted to recapture that time, if needed, during the rebuttal. If there are no opponents, then the debate can be significantly shortened.
- 2. Committee members should be provided with a preprinted form that can be faxed or mailed to the proponent well in advance of the hearing to request additional information, pose a question, or seek clarification, which sometimes uses up valuable time during the hearings. Additionally, the proponents address, telephone and fax should be included in the monograph so that other interested parties can communicate to seek resolution to conflicts or consolidate proposals in advance of the hearing in order to shorted the time needed at the hearing.
- 3. Before the hearings begin, any meetings among the Moderators, the Committee Chairman, and the committee members should be open to the public. During such a meeting, a proponent should be able to petition the Moderator and the Chairman for a "time modification" and requested amount of time, either in person or in writing, to modify the agenda and extend the testimony time for any of the reasons listed on Section II, Item 3.
- 4. At the beginning of the hearing, the Moderator shall present any "time modification" related proposals that are in order for ballot by the membership (assuming that a majority of the committee has voted in favor of a time modification), and allow for opposition to the time modifications at that time. Those opposing such a time modification to the agenda can express their position at that time. However, even if items are grouped

together, the opponents should be able to speak against items individually, and their time to speak shall not be reduced by the agenda revision.

- **5.** As the hearing progresses, an individual may request a time modification, again for the same valid reasons listed in Section II, Item 3. However, such extensions should be voted on by the membership present because it represents a change in the agenda. The reasons that a proponent may request such a time modification is a consolidation or, the concurrent discussion of several items has been arranged between proponents and/or opponents, or new significant, new technical information is to be presented that was not included in the monograph. Where possible, such extensions should be arranged in advance of the hearing. The membership may deny such a request for a time extension based on a 2/3 vote of those present and voting. In such cases, the testimony will continue using whatever time limit was established at the beginning of the hearing.
- 6. To allow a motion for further study to be sought by a proponent, opponent, or a committee member during either the Public Hearing or the Final Action, as discussed previously in Section I, Iem 7. For issues that cannot be resolved during the regular hearings due to the limited time or the depth or complexity of the issue, a Committee may be formed for the purpose of studying the specific subject, subject to recommendation by 2/3 of the membership present during the hearing, and approval of the formation of such a Committee by the Board of Directors. (Vote: 6-3. See additional comments)
- 7. The staff and committee need greater latitude on determining what is truly editorial in order to spend time on changes that require less time. Much of this could be accomplished during the pre-hearing review by staff, proponents and committee members as they review the proposals in advance of the code change hearing. As one of the first items, the chairman could make a recommendation that such code changes be ruled as editorial and the hearing on those particular changes be waived, even if every word is not exactly correct. If there is <u>any</u> objection from the floor at the beginning of the hearing, then the change would be heard in its regular order. (See additional comments).

II B. TASK GROUP RECOMMENDATIONS FOR THE FINAL ACTION—

Since the ICC Board of Directors has revised the procedure policy for hearing modifications for the 2002 code change, the task group was unable to make specific recommendations to the hearing process at the Final Action. Until such changes have been observed in practice at the hearings, it may be presumed that the same recommendations for the Public Hearings should prevail for the Final Action.

III. ISSUES FOR POSSIBLE FUTURE STUDY

Scheduling and Coordination –

One of the difficulties in attempting to address time limits for testimony is determining how any limits (or lack of limits) will affect overall hearing schedules or other parts of the Code Development Process. For example, the recent changes by the ICC Board of Directors to permit modifications to a code change to be proposed during the Public Comment period could significantly change the intent of the original proposal and thereby open up a very lengthy discussion at the Final Action hearing. It is appropriate, therefore, to coordinate any IAC recommendations regarding time limits on testimony with any other developing changes to the ICC Code Development Process. (See additional comments)

Visual Aids -

The subject of visual aids is outside the scope of this task group's work, but is intimately involved with the presentation of issues during the code hearings. Admittedly, such visual aids, or exhibits, could be time-consuming, they can also be time-efficient giving credence to the old adage: a picture is worth a thousand words.

The task group briefly addressed this subject and have the following comments:

- 1. Exhibits, such as a single image on overhead, illustration, photograph, text, detail, a split-screen comparison, an audible sound, or a hand-held three-dimensional object, should be permitted to be referenced during the hearings.
- 2. Handouts of the exhibits should be available (usually on table in the back of the hearing room) to the membership and should be permitted, even encouraged.
- 3. The time to present such an exhibit would have to be contained within the established time limits, set at the beginning of the hearings.
- 4. The proponent (at the Public Hearing), or any challenger (at the Final Action) would have to put their intention of using such an exhibit along with a brief description of such exhibit in writing with their proposal/ challenge in advance of the hearings, so that no surprise exhibits would be permitted.
- 5. The chairman, at his/her sole discretion, may rule the exhibit in or out of order. Such exhibits are intended to be primarily technical, informative, or explanatory. Exhibits developed to play to the emotional or sensational sentiments of the audience would be ruled out of order.
- 6. Demonstrations or multi-image presentations, such as videos or PowerPoint, should not be permitted during the hearings, although the limited use of such presentations may be more appropriate during a committee meeting as discussed in this report.

(See additional comments)

Committee members who testify from the floor -

Since industry members will be serving on committees in future ICC hearings, the task group recommends further clarification of how committee members use the available time for discussion, both during the public debates, and also after the debate is closed during committee deliberations. It has been observed that, in the past, some committee members speak during the floor debate and then take additional time to reiterate their position from the dais.

The task group recommends that committee members who testify from the floor as a proponent or an opponent change should recuse themselves from voting on the issue, and from indulging in further testimony (as a committee member) after the public hearing has been closed. (See additional comments).

.

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS FROM THE IAC "TIME LIMITS" TASK GROUP MEMBERS

II. GENERAL TASK GROUP RECOMMENDATIONS.

Item 1.

Mr. Stratton: Too many inconsistencies occur among moderators. Moderators should openly consult the committee chairman about any need for extending public discussion. They often shut it off on their individual schedules. From committee discussions that follow, they often obviously need more input in order to make informed decisions.

Item 2.

Mr. Eugene: The timing device should incorporate a visual display. The display may be a countdown clock, red/amber/green lighting device or other appropriate display.

Mr. Collins: I don't disagree with an automatic timing device, I just do not think it should be operated by anyone; it should be automatic! I also do not like the discussions characterized as "debate." The most important feature of the discussion and the timing of it should be the automatic cut off of the moderators and committee members microphones during the presentation and the speakers microphone at the end of the allotted time. There should be "sergeant at arms" located throughout the hearing room who will be charged with maintaining decorum in the audience. The moderator should not have to shout from the podium to quiet the audience.

Mr. Fischer: The timer should be an automatic device that once started as the speaker identifies him/herself- so the light is not controlled by a human being.

Item 3.

Mr. Rowson: While I generally agree, there need to be some time limit regardless of the issue. Also, establishing importance of competing issues is a political statement in itself so there need to be some criteria, as outlined in Item 4, if this is done.

Mr. Fischer: I agree, but the limit must be set ahead of the start of that particular hearing session.

Mr. Collins: I disagree that time limits should vary at all! If there are time limits imposed for whatever reason everyone should be given the same time limit until the hearing has concluded.

Mr. Eugene: For fairness to all, time limits need to be set that are uniform for each speaker. Only when agreed to by the voting members should time limits be extended for specific proposals? The process that ICC uses is different from the NFPA process. In the NFPA process, the Code Panels have a great deal of latitude, and can generate their own proposals to incorporate a variety of different proposals. That process does not lend itself to public input at the Committee's first action on proposals.

Bullet a. I agree that there is merit to understanding how multiple proposals are intertwined as a package, possibly heard by a variety of committees. The total time allotted for the proponent, for all of the intertwined proposals should not exceed the total time that would be necessary to hear each individually.

Bullet b. I disagree that more time a complex issue to present is necessary. The substantiation for such a complex issue needs to be documented in the supporting statements. If the proposal is well thought out, and well documented, the proponent should be able to stand on his/her supporting statement, and reserve time not used for rebuttal arguments.

Bullet c. Regarding the weight factor of those testifying on the opposite side of an issue, I again would disagree that additional time is warranted. "Me too" type testimony does not generate a need for additional response. The proponent should focus on the significant adverse testimony, and rebut that to make his/her case for support of the proposal. Often, a proponent is just flying a "trial balloon" for a proposal that is not fully developed.

Bullet d. Where a caucus is used to blend multiple potentially conflicting proposals, I agree there is merit to presenting a substitute motion in greater detail, in the interest of saving time overall. The total time allotted should not exceed the time that would have been used for each of the combined proposals.

Mr. Stratton: Bullet c. This is not a reason for a time extension.

Mr. Fischer: Bullet d. Tabling must occur prior to any testimony on the item NOT after the

proponent becomes aware of opposition.

Item 4.

Mr. Eugene: The purpose of the public hearing is to make an informed decision based on weighing testimony received. Only new issues not previously considered have a basis for swaying the decision of the committees or voting representatives. "Me too" testimony should be strongly discouraged in the interest of providing fairness to the other proposals that will be heard later in the agenda. Having great numbers testifying at whatever expense or distance traveled doesn't enhance the code or the hearing. I am strongly opposed to such a change that will unnecessarily prolong the hearings.

Mr. Stratton: Moderators should not be allowed to operate on "no me too" rules. In the first place, this is not due process -- when you can't show support or opposition and would-be speakers can't demonstrate the extent of these. Neither the committee nor the audience gets to know the extent of support and opposition. People (unable to testify) on the floor may represent large organizations with national impact. If you have to get creative with new evidence or new reasons in order to be allowed to speak why an action should be taken, you may be drawing attention to

less important issues. Perhaps up to one minute should be allowed each person (not from the same organization) in simple support of an important action or reason therefore (that has already been stated).

Mr. Fischer: Perhaps this could be accomplished through some form of a written petition so the signers could be read into the record.

Mr. Collins: I am deeply concerned with someone determining "fairness." Part of the reason for this task group was to address the concern that moderators were inconsistent and did not treat everyone in the same dispassionate way. I am concerned that the number of proponents on one side or the other should not sway the amount of time allowed to testify. It is more important however to control the "me too" testimony in these circumstances and I have not seen any proposal that would do that! Tabling an issue is not justification to take longer in testimony. It requires the proponents to do a better job in preparing their materials and testimony. If the issue can't be explained in the time allotted for all changes then it may take another cycle to resolve.

Item 5.

Mr. Eugene: Although I agree in principle, it is difficult, if not impossible to establish a system whereby everyone will agree that adequate time was allotted for hearing all the proposals in a systematic manner. Some will even contend that the second 18-month cycle is the premier cycle in that the new code is published based on that round of proposals, and therefore even more important that sufficient time is allotted to critically debate each proposal. I do not believe that the IRC should be divided up so that portions of the chapters are at the front end of the hearings and the balance is at the tail end of the hearings. The IRC is a stand-alone document that should be heard in total (even though different committees hear different portions). The interested public is normally interested in the total document, and to split different portions with a gap for other codes to be heard is unfair to the interested public.

Mr. Rowson: Some subjects are of less interest to the attendees as a whole and could normally be last. Staff should use their judgment.

Mr. Stratton: Follow numerical code sequence. What logical sections and arrangements????

Item 7.

Mr. Stratton: Who decides the cases in "in those cases "?

Mr. Rowson: I support the "further study" approach with a membership vote to accomplish this objective. ICC could conduct informal type efforts if there is interest without formal sanction.

Mr. Fischer: This decision should be made by the committee prior to the beginning of the agenda and subject to approval by the proponent.

Mr. Eugene: Multiple issues have interested parties that maintain strong positions on an issue. It is in the best interest of a proponent to try to work things out with opponents between hearing cycles. I do not agree that each contentious issue needs a formal ad hoc committee to resolve differences. The duty is on the proponent to take objections into consideration, work out details on common agreement, and then submit well thought out proposals to the committees for consideration.

II-A. TASK GROUP RECOMMENDATIONS FOR THE PUBLIC HEARING

Item 2.

Mr. Eugene: To request these "clarifications" outside of the public view and public hearing is a disservice to those in opposition. The decisions should be based on the written record which all have had a chance to review, and the public testimony, so that all will be treated fairly.

Item 3.

Mr. Stratton: Is time extension the only allowed public input? We are not clear.

Mr. Fischer: Time modification requests should be made at the time the session begins, prior to any testimony- as items are removed from the agenda, others may have time allotments made. That way the moderator may give consideration to the time gains realized in his decision.

Ms. Lovell: We should consider this request for a time modification to be included in the proposal and challenge rather than at the pre-hearing committee meeting. That way there are no surprises.

Mr. Collins: I am opposed to any meetings with the committee prior to the hearings. There is not only the appearance of "deal making" but also the likely use of that opportunity to influence the committee. I agree with the note suggesting that the time issue be included as part of the submitted change.

Mr. Eugene: The pre-hearing meeting is an opportunity for the committee members to meet each other, to identify those items which may be grouped to yield a more efficient hearing, and to identify any items that a member will be recusing himself/herself from at the public hearing to avoid the appearance of a conflict of interest.

Item 4.

Mr. Eugene: I agree that the membership should have control of time modification requests. I don't feel, however, that these would be previously "approved" by the committee through a balloting or straw-ballot process. The requests should come from the floor, and be dispensed with so that the hearings can proceed. If a time modification is requested so that testimony can be heard on a series of proposals, the total time modification should remain within the total time that would otherwise be allotted, allowing more for the first item, and less time for subsequent related items. Time constraints help focus testimony on the critical issues.

Item 5.

Mr. Eugene: It should require a majority (either simple or 2/3) to APPROVE a requested time modification, not to deny it. The requests should come from the floor, and be dispensed with so that the hearings can proceed. If a time modification is requested so that testimony can be heard on a series of proposals, the total time modification should remain within the total time that would otherwise be allotted, allowing more for the first item, and less time for subsequent related items. Time constraints help focus testimony on the critical issues.

Mr. Collins: This appears backwards to me. It takes 2/3rds of the members to deny a request? How about 2/3rds to approve it!

Mr. Fischer: I agree with limitations- this could open up a Pandora's box of time shuffling- but should require 2/3 majority

Mr. Stratton: A simple majority is ok.

Item 6.

Mr. Stratton: We should say whether this is a 4th disposition option to A, AM & D.

Mr. Fischer: This gives an opponent an easy kill- and the committee an easy out- no way should an opponent allow this.

Mr. Eugene: I do not believe it is the committee's responsibility to recommend an ad hoc committee be formed. If an issue is contentious, and resolution of that issue would provide a benefit to the membership, then it is incumbent upon the Board of Directors, on their own accord, to pass a resolution supporting the appointment of an ad-hoc committee. Multiple issues have interested parties that maintain strong positions on an issue. It is in the best interest of a proponent to try to work things out with opponents between hearing cycles. I do not agree that each contentious issue needs a formal ad hoc committee to resolve differences. The duty is on the proponent to take objections into consideration, work out details on common agreement, and then submit well thought out proposals to the committee for consideration.

Mr. Collins: I do not agree that the membership should be deciding on the floor of the hearings whether additional expenses should be incurred by ICC and other organizations and members to create a committee. There are adequate avenues currently through the BOD to accomplish this where necessary.

Item 7.

Mr. Stratton: This is redundant; it can be done now.

II B. TASK GROUP RECOMMENDATIONS FOR THE FINAL ACTION—

(No additional comments)

III. ISSUES FOR POSSIBLE FUTURE STUDY

Scheduling and Coordination –

Mr. Collins: The concept that changes proposed during the comment period can "significantly change the intent of the original proposal" is not valid. Any such proposal should be ruled out of order!

Visual Aids -

Mr. Collins: The limitation on visual aids should be retained. I defy anyone at the hearings in St. Louis to provide adequate visual aids for those attending to see and understand a visual aid. A visual aid that is not previously shown and a part of the proposal is impossible for the parties on the other side to address adequately.

Mr. Fischer: The decision to use a visual aid need not be decided at submission- often the actual testimony strategies are completed well after that date. That requires an undue time burden on the proponent. An opponent should also be allowed to use such an aid during the public hearing.

Committee members who testify from the floor –

Mr. Pauls: Not expressed in the report is my concern about Committee members asking questions of certain (confederate) testifiers so as to increase testimony time without limit, without the other side having an opportunity to rebut, if necessary, certain influential statements during the answer to the question. Item II, number 2, touches on this and might reduce the need for such questions but there should be more incentive against questions which distort the delicate balance of the testimony process. If committee members recognize that, by giving an opportunity for such rebuttal, they will not be able to help their confederates, there is more likelihood of the questions being sent out in advance. Also, what happens if the pre-submitted question comes too late for a reply to the committee member in advance of the hearing as well as the issue of having such a response not go to all committee members? Is this a case where additional testimony time may be warranted? Otherwise, a committee member could force a testifier to spend too much of the limited time on an answer and not leave time for the testifier to cover other matters s/he believes important.

Mr. Stratton: WE SHOULD NOT IMPLY THAT OUR ONLY CONCERN IS INDUSTRY MEMBER DELAY!!!!

Chairman's note: These two comments regarding "modifications" were submitted to the task group because modifications can use up considerable time. No vote was taken, but the comments are considered worth noting by the Chairman.

Mr. Stratton (on modifications with overheads): Regarding Code Development Process 5.5.2 (floor modifications), The process is abused, unfair and it causes delay. Proponents frequently turn in complex and lengthy modifications, often with much substantiation that only the committee and a few lucky people get a copy of. If it is shown on an overhead many in the room can't read it; they are too far away. Code staff, the committee and the audience can't instantly evaluate the impact or assess coordination with other codes. Some people seem to contrive to use this to sneak changes through. It is often new material that those not in attendance won't see until they get an appeal or challenge opportunity (statistically with little hope of success). Moderators should not have sole discretion on acceptance; perhaps the committee chairman should not either. Rules for acceptance should be published and followed; time would be saved.

Mr. Pauls: The ICC Board needs to be reminded of the promise (I recall) that ICC would process all changes to the procedure through the IAC. The recent change regarding modifications really should have been brought to the IAC, even in E-mail form, if it were really essential to make a change between scheduled IAC meetings.



ALLIANCE TO SAVE ENERGY

Third Decade of Leadership

Senator Jeff Bingaman

Co-Chair

Dean T. Langford President, OSRAM SYLVANIA INC.

Vice-Chairs

Senator James M. Jeffords Representative Edward J. Markey Representative John Edward Porter

Founding Chair

Charles H. Percy

Chair Emeriti

Daniel J. Evans Timothy E. Wirth

President

David M. Nemtrow

Treasurer

Michael E. Barrett Partner, Ernst & Young LLP

Secretary

Mark Hopkins

John Adams

Executive Director Natural Resources Defense Council

Henri-Claude Bailly

Chairman, Hagler Bailly, Inc.

Michael R. Bonsignore Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Honeywell Inc. Stephen Brobeck

Executive Director Consumer Federation of America

Dr. Matlyn A. Brown

Deputy Director Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy

Dak Ridge National Laboratory

Thomas L. Caltrider

Senior Vice President, Insulation Group Johns Manville

Richard H. Cowart

Former Chairman

James H. DeGraffenreidt, Jr.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Washington Gas

Thomas K. Dreessen

President and Chief Executive Officer

EPS Capital Corporation John C. Fox

Chief Operating Officer

Ontario Power Generation, Inc.

S. David Freeman

Los Angeles Department of Water & Power

Donald L. Garofalo

President and Chief Executive Officer Anderson Corporation

William J. Keese

Chairman, California Energy Commission

Thomas R. Kuhn

President, Edison Electric Institute

Earle H. O'Donnell

Partner, Dewey Ballantine

Frank H. Pearl

Chairman , Perseus L.L.C.

Franklin D. Raines Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

John W. Rawe Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Generation

William Valentino

New York State Energy Research and

Development Authority

August 28, 2001

AUG 3 0 2001

Mr. Richard Kuchnicki, President International Code Council 5203 Leesburg Pike, Suite 600 Falls Church, VA 22041

Dear Dick:

I am following up on our telephone conversation to request a formal interpretation of a recent ICC Board action. In its last meeting, the Board approved an "erratum" for the IECC as follows:

Section 101.4 Scope.

Add the following exception:

Exception: Detached one- and two-family dwellings and multiple single-family dwellings (townhouses) not more than three stories high with separate means of egress and their accessory structures shall comply with the International Residential Code.

This new exception to the IECC's scope appears to be a very substantive change to the code, and in my judgement cannot be construed to be an erratum. Several stakeholders, including code organization staff, state and local energy code agencies, and industry organizations have voiced concerns to me along these same lines. They see this exception as a major code change with broad implications for code adoption and interpretation. Hence this request for a formal interpretation.

In 1998, I was involved with the ICC Scoping Coordination Committee's efforts to resolve scoping issues between the IECC and the IRC. At that time, they rejected a proposal to shift the singlefamily prescriptive scope from the IECC to the IRC, and ruled that that ICC membership was the appropriate arbiter for such coordination issues. To my knowledge the Scoping Coordination Committee has taken no further action on this issue.

In 1999, Proposal EC3-99, submitted by Dick Morris of NAHB, was virtually identical to the "erratum" above. It was denied in committee, and a subsequent public comment was also denied. We are not aware that this proposal has been resubmitted through any ICC code change process. We thus find it rather alarming that a Board action would appear to approve a code change previously denied by the cognizant ICC Committees and by the membership.

Based on these concerns, we request an interpretation of the Board's action in the following areas:

- Who proposed this "erratum", and by what ICC process did it reach the Board for action?
- How does this action relate to the previous actions of the Scoping Coordination Committee?
- How does this action relate to Proposal EC-3-99?
- How does the Board interpret this action for adopting authorities? Specifically, does this action mean that the IECC is not to be used for one- and two-family dwellings?
- How does the Board intend to maintain consistency between the IECC and the IRC in the future? At present, the energy requirements in the IRC are consistent with those in the IECC. However, future code changes could alter that balance; in such cases, the scope changes implied by the "erratum" above could create serious problems for adopting authorities.

I ask that this issue be placed on the Board's agenda for the September meeting, and that a response be sent within 30 days following that meeting. It is important that the stakeholders on this issue understand the intent and implications of this decision as soon as possible.

Please contact me at 202-530-2214 or bprindle@ase.org if you have questions on this. I look forward to hearing from you.

Sincerely,

William R. Prindle

Director, Buildings and Utilities Programs

Cc: Larry Perry, IAC Chair

BOCA MEMORANDUM

TO: Dick Kuchnicki

CC: Bill Tangye

Jon Traw

FROM: Paul K. Heilstedt, P.E.

RE: NAHB Code Development Process Issues

August 27, 2001

On July 25, 2001, Bill Tangye, Jon Traw and I met with NAHB representatives Phil Hancock, Frank Thompson, Ron Burton and Ed Sutton at the request of NAHB to discuss several matters. The purpose of this is to advise the ICC Board of Directors of the issues that NAHB asked to be brought before the Board for consideration. Accordingly, the following should be considered for inclusion in the Rules of Procedure for the International Codes.

1. Cost Impact Checkoff: NAHB expressed some concern that only the IRC addresses "affordability" and affordability should be a concern when considering the content of all of the International Codes. As an alternative, the NAHB representatives were of the view that having a "cost impact statement" on the code change proposal form would legitimize the discussion of added costs and NAHB's concerns with the cost impact issue.

Consider revising current section 3.3.4 to read:

6. Cost Impact. The proponent shall be requested to voluntarily state indicate one of the following regarding the cost impact of the code change proposal: 1) the code change proposal will increase the cost of construction; or 2) the code change proposal will not increase the cost of construction or; 3) no statement is made as to whether the code change proposal will or will not increase the cost of construction. This information will be included in with the published code change proposal.

The above revisions, if approved, would be in effect on approval. The net effect of the revision will be to require the cost impact statement. If a code development proposal does not address the matter, the proposal would be incomplete and held until the receipt of the corrected submittal (Section 4.3).

2. Coordinated Code Change Proposals and Automatic Public Comment: For the last several cycles the staff has ensured that a code change proposal submitted to an International Code which also impacts the IRC, and vice versa, would be considered by all appropriate committees (normally reflected by having a Part 1 and a Part 2 to a proposal). In addition, the staff would submit an automatic public comment if the actions of two committees differed to allow the members to resolve the differences if deemed appropriate. NAHB indicated that these actions were a source of confusion and redundant. While NAHB was advised in January 2001 that both aspects of this would terminate after the 2002 Code Development Cycle, they asked that the ICC Board address the matter. The NAHB representatives indicated that they would not have a problem with a staff comment being added to the proposal that indicated that the proposal created a difference with the text of another code. In reality, the Procedures do not address the Coordinated Code Changes matter although section 1.3.1 comes closest to endorsing the administrative effort resulting in the processing of a proposal as submitted to one code (Part 1) and the administrative development of a proposal to another code that deals

Memo to: Richard Kuchnicki August 27, 2001 Page 2

with the same matter (Part 2). This administrative practice which is designed to bring attention to possible code differences is proposed to be abandoned at the conclusion of the 2002 Code Development cycle.

As to the Automatic Challenges issue, consider revising current section 6.1 to read;

- **6.1 Intent:** The public comment process gives attendees at the annual meeting an opportunity to consider specific objections to the results of the public hearing and more thoughtfully prepare for the discussion for Final Action Consideration. The public comment process expedites the Final Action Consideration at the annual meeting by limiting the items discussed to the following:
- a. Consideration of items for which a public comment has been submitted; and
- b. Consideration of items which may result in a technical inconsistency between the International Residential Code and the associated ICC International Code; and
- e. b. Consideration of items which received a successful assembly action at the public hearing.

The above revisions, if approved, would be in effect on January 1, 2003.

3. Limited Floor Action by Hearing Assembly: NAHB expressed the concern that allowing the assembly at the Code Development Hearings to consider modifications opens the door to matters unrelated to the initial proposal considered by the committee or even to reverse the intent of the initial proposal. NAHB asked that a limitation on the type or extent of the modifications be considered. NAHB did not indicate a preference for the limitation. The following is an alternative for consideration.

Consider revising the current section 5.7.1 (applicable in 2002) to read:

- **5.7.1 Floor Motion:** Any attendee may raise an objection to the committee's action in which case the attendee will be able to make a motion to:
- 1. approve the code change proposal as submitted (ASF), or
- 2. approve the code change proposal as modified (AMF) with a specific modification that is within the scope of the original proposal (AMF) as accepted by the Moderator (see section 5.5.2 for requirements for floor modifications) or part of a successful committee action on a modification, or
- 3. disapprove the code change proposal (DF).

This revision, if approved, would be in effect on January 1, 2002.

Also discussed with NAHB was the limitation on consideration of modifications during Fianl Action Consideration. While section 7.3.3 (applicable in 2002) permits consideration of modifications by the members for Final Action a revision can be considered to clarify the requirements as follows:

- **7.3.3 Discussion and voting:** Discussion and voting on proposals being individually considered shall be in accordance with the following procedures:
 - 1. **Allowable Final Action Motions:** The only allowable motions for final action are Approval as Submitted, Approval as Modified by one or more published modifications <u>published in the Final Action</u>

Memo to: Richard Kuchnicki August 27, 2001 Page 3

Agenda and Disapproval.

- 2. **Initial Motion:** The Code Development Committee recommendation shall be the initial motion considered.
- 3. **Motions for Modifications:** Whenever a motion under consideration is for Approval as Submitted or Approval as Modified, a subsequent motion and second for a published modification <u>published in the Final Action Agenda</u> may be made (see Section 6.3.3). Each subsequent motion for modification, if any, shall be individually discussed and voted before returning to the main motion. A two-thirds majority based on the number of votes cast by eligible voters shall be required for a successful motion on a subsequent <u>all</u> modifications.
- 4. **Voting:** After dispensing with all motions for modifications, if any, and upon completion of discussion on the main motion, the Moderator shall then ask for the vote on the main motion. If the motion fails to receive the majority required in Section 7.5, the Moderator shall ask for a new motion.
- 5. **Subsequent Motion:** If the initial motion is unsuccessful, a motion for one of the other allowable final actions shall be made (see Section 7.3.3[1]) and dispensed with until a successful final action is achieved.

The revision, if approved, would be in effect in the 2002 Code Development cycle.

4. Referenced Standards: NAHB expressed some concern with the manner in which referenced standards are updated. The updating of currently referenced standards should be a code change proposal which is produced and handled in the same manner as any other proposal; including a hearing and committee action. The following revision would accomplish this.

Revise the current section 4.5 to read:

4.5 Updating Standards: The subsequent updating of standards referenced by the Codes shall be administratively accomplished in accordance with these full procedures except that multiple standards to be updated may be included in a single proposal. administratively by the appropriate code development committee. A notice of the committee's intent to update standards referenced by the Codes shall be printed for public review and comment in the report of the results of the public hearing (see Section 5.8). Parties desiring to comment on a referenced standard due for updating shall file their remarks with the Secretariat no later than the deadline date for receipt of public comments (see Section 6.2).

The revisions, if approved, would be in effect on approval. Staff will determine the administration of such proposals, including, the determination of the appropriate Code Development Committee to maintain the update process where a standard is referenced in multiple codes (or subcommittees as in the case of the IBC) and the appropriate format for code change presentation in the case of multiple standards in single proposal. The ability of the committee to modify the proposal will result in isolated standards updates not adversely affecting the disposition of the entire code change.

Note that the ICC representatives do not necessarily endorse the above revisions but are placing the issues before the Board as promised.